WAKE COUNTY, NC CHARLES P. GILLIAM REGISTER OF DEEDS PRESENTED & RECORDED ON 03-04-2019 AT 13:53:44

BOOK: 017375 PAGE: 01339 - 01351

Drawn by and mail after recording to: Alexander Ricks PLLC (MJH) 4601 Park Road, Suite 580, Charlotte, NC 28209

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF WAKE

SECOND AMENDMENT TO DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, EASEMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR BEAU PRE' AT STONY HILL (FORMERLY HARRISON RIDGE SUBDIVISION)

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, EASEMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR BEAU PRE' AT STONY HILL (FORMERLY HARRISON RIDHE SUBDIVISION) (this "Amendment") is made as of the /5 day of February, 2019 (the "Effective Date"), by AV HOMES OF RALEIGH, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company f/k/a AVH Bethpage, LLC (referred to as "Declarant") (index as "Grantor" and "Grantee").

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, Stony Hill Partners, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company and predecessor in interest to Declarant, made and entered into that certain Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Easements and Restrictions for Harrison Ridge Subdivision dated as of, and recorded on, August 3, 2006 in Book 12099 at Page 2160 of the Wake County Public Registry (the "Registry"), as amended by that certain Amendment to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Easements and Restrictions for Beau Pre at Stony Hill (Formerly Harrison Ridge Subdivision) dated as of February 26, 2014 and recorded on March 12, 2014 in Book 15600 at Page 2643 of the Registry, and as affected by that certain Assignment of Declarant Rights dated as of March 31, 2017 and recorded on April 12, 2017 in Book 16750 at 1067 of the Registry (as amended and/or affected, the "Declaration"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3 of Article XIII of the Declaration, the Declaration may be unilaterally amended during the twenty (20) year period from the date of recording by an instrument executed by the Declarant; and

WHEREAS, the Declarant desires to amend the Declaration, as set forth more in detail below.

NOW, THEREFORE, Declarant hereby amends the Declaration as follows:

Submitted electronically by "Alexander Ricks PLLC" in compliance with North Carolina statutes governing recordable documents and the terms of the submitter agreement with the Wake County Register of Deeds.

- 1. The Recitals above are hereby incorporated into this Amendment. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the Declaration.
- 2. <u>Association</u>. The definition of "Association" in the Declaration is hereby amended to mean and refer to Beau Pre' Homeowners Association, Inc., a North Carolina corporation f/k/a Beau Pre' at Stony Hill Homeowners Association, Inc., its successors and assigns.
- 3. <u>Bylaws</u>. The definition of "Bylaws" in the Declaration is hereby amended to mean and refer to the Bylaws of the Association attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> and incorporated herein by this reference, as the same may be amended by the Members pursuant to the terms thereof.
- 4. <u>Property</u>. Notwithstanding anything in the Declaration to the contrary, the definition of the "Property" shall expressly include that certain real property more particularly described on <u>Exhibit B</u> attached and incorporated herein by this reference.
- 5. <u>Class B Membership</u>. Notwithstanding anything in the Declaration to the contrary, the Class B membership remain in effect until March 31, 2019 (the "Class B Control Period").
- 6. The terms and conditions of this Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina. This Amendment shall bind and run with the Property.
- 7. Except as modified by this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the Declaration shall remain in full force and effect. If there is any conflict between this Amendment and the Declaration, this Amendment shall control. Except where the context otherwise requires, all references in this Amendment to the Declaration shall be deemed to include the provisions of this Amendment. The terms and provisions of this Amendment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Owner(s) of the Property, their respective successors, heirs and assigns, if any.

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE(S)]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caused this Amendment to be executed and delivered as of the day and year first above written.

AV HOMES OF RALEIGH, LLC,

a North Carolina limited liability company

Name: 1

Title: Manager

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF WAKE

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public of the County and the State aforesaid, certify that personally appeared before me this day and acknowledged that he is the Manager of AV Homes of Raleigh, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company, and that by authority duly given and as the act of the limited liability company, he executed the foregoing instrument.

Witness my hand and official seal, this the

Notary Public

Drive Name

My commission expires:

00683-004/00155708-1

Exhibit A

BYLAWS OF BEAU PRE' HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

ARTICLE 1

NAME AND LOCATION

The name of the corporation is BEAU PRE' HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC. The principal office of the corporation shall be located at the place designated by the Articles of Incorporation of the Association, as amended from time to time, but meetings of Members and Directors may be held at such place as may be designated by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE II

DEFINITIONS

- Section 1. "Association" shall mean and refer to BEAU PRE' HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., its successors and assigns.
- Section 2. "Declaration" shall mean and refer to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Easements and Restrictions for Harrison Ridge Subdivision, as amended by that certain Amendment of the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Easements and Restrictions for Beau Pre at Stony Hill (Formerly Harrison Ridge Subdivision, as recorded or to be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Wake County, North Carolina.
- Section 3. "Declarant" shall mean and refer to AV Homes of Raleigh, LLC a North Carolina corporation (f/k/a AVH Bethpage, LLC), and its respective successors and assigns.
 - Section 4. "Property" shall have the meaning as set forth under the Declaration.
 - Section 5. All other definitions in the Declaration shall apply to these Bylaws.

ARTICLE III

MEMBERSHIP AND PROPERTY RIGHTS

- <u>Section 1</u>. <u>Membership</u>. Membership is governed by the Articles of Incorporation for the Association (as amended, the "Articles of Incorporation") and the Declaration.
- <u>Section 2</u>. <u>Rights of Members</u>. Each Member shall enjoy the rights set forth in the Declaration, including the use and enjoyment of the Common Elements as more particularly described in, and governed by, the Declaration.
 - Section 3. Voting Rights. Voting rights are governed by Article III of the Declaration.

ARTICLE IV

MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

- <u>Section 1</u>. <u>Annual Meetings</u>. The first annual meeting of the Members shall be held within one year from the later of the date of incorporation of the Association or the date of conveyance of the first Lot. Each subsequent regular annual meeting of the Members shall be held on a date and time designated by the Board of Directors.
- Section 2. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Members may be called at any time by the President or by the Board of Directors, or upon written request of the Members who are entitled to vote 10% of all the votes of the membership.
- Section 3. <u>Notice of Meetings</u>. Notice of meetings shall be provided as set forth in Section 47F-3-108 of the Planned Community Act. Waiver by a Member in writing of the notice required, signed by him or her before or after such meeting, shall be equivalent to the giving of such notice.
- Section 4. Quorum. A quorum is present throughout any meeting of the Members if persons entitled to cast 10% of all of the votes in the Association are present in person or by proxy at the beginning of the meeting, except as any higher such percentage is required as set forth in Article IV, Section 6 of the Declaration. In the event business cannot be conducted at any meeting of the Members because a quorum is not present, that meeting may be adjourned to a later date by the affirmative vote of a majority of those present in person or by proxy. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in the Declaration or these Bylaws, the quorum requirement at the next meeting shall be one-half of the quorum requirement applicable to the meeting adjourned for lack of a quorum, and this provision shall continue to reduce the quorum by 50% from that required at the previous meeting, as previously reduced, until such time as a quorum is present and business can be conducted.
- Section 5. Proxies. At all meetings of Members, each Member may vote in person or by proxy. All proxies shall be in writing and filed with the Secretary. Every proxy shall be revocable and shall automatically cease upon conveyance by the Member of his or her Lot.

ARTICLE V

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. General Powers. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Number, Term and Qualification.

- (b) During the Class B Control Period (as defined in the Declaration), the Declarant shall determine the number of Directors. Each Director shall hold office until his or her death, resignation, retirement, removal or completion of his or her term. Each Director shall be elected for a three-year term, provided that Directors elected in the middle of the Association's fiscal year shall serve for the remainder of that year, plus two additional years. Any Director who has served a term may be re-elected. Directors need not be residents of the State of North Carolina. Directors need not be Members.
- (c) After the Class B Control Period, the number of Directors of the Board of Directors shall be set by the Members from time to time and shall be at least five but not more than seven as from time to time may be fixed or changed within said minimum and maximum by the Members or the Board of Directors. A Director elected by the Members shall hold office until his or her death, resignation, retirement, removal or completion of his or her term. Each Director shall be elected for a three-year term, provided that Directors elected in the middle of the Association's fiscal year shall serve for the remainder of that year, plus two additional years. Any Director who has served a term may be re-elected. Directors need

not be residents of the State of North Carolina. Directors need not be Members, except as required by Section 47F-3-103(e) of the N.C. Planned Community Act. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, however, at the initial meeting of the Members after the expiration of the Class B Control Period (the "Initial Meeting"), the number of Directors to be elected shall be five, and further, one of the five Directors shall be elected to serve until the next annual meeting of the Members, two of the five Directors shall be elected to serve until the second annual meeting following such Initial Meeting and the remaining two of the five Directors shall be elected to serve until the third annual meeting following such Initial Meeting so that the five Directors elected at such Initial Meeting and consequently, the subsequently elected Directors shall serve for staggered terms of three (3) years, such that not more than two of the five (or if the number of directors is increased, such that not more than one half of the elected Directors') terms shall expire in the same year.

Section 3. Removal.

- (a) Any Director selected by Declarant during the Class B Control Period may be removed from the Board by Declarant, with or without cause. In the event of removal of a Director, such Director's successor shall be selected by Declarant and shall serve for the unexpired term of the removed Director.
- (b) After the Class B Control Period, any Director may be removed from the Board, with or without cause, by a majority vote of the Members of the Association at any meeting at which a quorum is present. In the event of removal of a Director, such Director's successor shall be selected by a majority vote of the remaining members of the Board, and shall serve for the unexpired term of the removed Director.

Section 4. Vacancies.

- (a) During the Class B Control Period, a vacancy on the Board resulting from resignation, death, or otherwise (except vacancies caused by removal, which is governed by Section 3 above), shall be filled by Declarant.
- (b) After the Class B Control Period, vacancies on the Board resulting from resignation, death, or otherwise (except vacancies caused by removal, which is governed by Section 3 above) shall be filled by a majority vote of the remaining members of the Board at its first regular meeting following the creation of such vacancy, or at a special meeting called for that purpose.
- Section 5. Quorum. A quorum is deemed present throughout any meeting of the Board of the Association if persons entitled to cast 50% of the votes on that Board are present at the beginning of the meeting. In the event business cannot be conducted at any meeting of the Board because a quorum is not present, that meeting may be adjourned to a later date by the affirmative vote of a majority of those present in person or by proxy. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in the Declaration or these Bylaws, the quorum requirement at the next meeting shall be one-half of the quorum requirement applicable to the meeting adjourned for lack of a quorum, and this provision shall continue to reduce the quorum by 50% from that required at the previous meeting, as previously reduced, until such time as a quorum is present and business can be conducted.
- <u>Section 6</u>. <u>Compensation</u>. No Director shall receive compensation for any service he or she may render to the Association as a Director. However, any Director may be reimbursed for actual expenses incurred in the performance of his or her duties.

<u>Section 7.</u> <u>Action Taken Without a Meeting.</u> The Directors shall have the right to take any action in the absence of a meeting which they could take at a meeting by obtaining the written approval of all the Directors. Any action so approved shall have the same effect as though taken at the meeting of the Directors.

ARTICLE VI

NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Nomination.

- (a) During the Class B Control Period, the Declarant shall select and appoint the Directors.
- (b) After the Class B Control Period, nominations for election as a Director of the Board of Directors shall be made by a "Nominating Committee." Nominations for election as a Director may also be made from the floor at the annual meeting. The Nominating Committee shall consist of the President and such other committee members as designated by the President. If the office of President is vacant, the Vice President shall name the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee shall be appointed prior to each annual meeting and shall serve until the close of the annual meeting. The Nominating Committee shall make as many nominations for election to the Board of Directors as it shall in its discretion determine, but not less than the number of vacancies that are to be filled.
- Section 2. Election. After the Class B Control Period, election as a Director may be conducted by voice vote or by secret written ballot, at the discretion of President (or Vice President if the office of President is vacant). At such election, the Members or their proxies may cast, in respect to each vacancy, as many votes as they are entitled to exercise under the provisions of the Declaration. The persons receiving the largest number of votes shall be elected. Cumulative voting is not permitted.

ARTICLE VII

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

- Section 1. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held quarterly or at such other periodic intervals as may be established by the Board of Directors from time to time, at such place and hour as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board.
- Section 2. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held when called by the President of the Association, or by any two Directors, after not less than three (3) days' notice to each Director.
- Section 3. Action Without Meeting. Action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken by all members of the Board. The action must be evidenced by one or more written consents signed by each Director before or after such action, describing the action taken, and included in the minutes or filed with the corporate records.

ARTICLE VIII

POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- <u>Section 1</u>. <u>Powers</u>. The Board of Directors shall have power, on behalf of the Association, to:
- (a) exercise all powers enumerated in Section 47F-3-102 of the Planned Community Act, including:
 - (1) adopt these Bylaws, amend these Bylaws (pursuant to Article XIII below) and adopt rules and regulations;
 - (2) adopt and amend budgets for revenues, expenditures, and reserves and collect assessments for Common Expenses from Lot Owners;
 - (3) hire and discharge managing agents and other employees, agents, and independent contractors;
 - (4) institute, defend, or intervene in litigation or administrative proceedings on matters affecting the Association;
 - (5) make contracts and incur liabilities;
 - (6) regulate the use, maintenance, repair, replacement, and modification of Common Elements;
 - (7) cause additional improvements to be made as a part of the Common Elements:
 - (8) acquire, hold, encumber, and convey in the Association's name any right, title, or interest to real or personal property, provided that Common Elements and may be conveyed or subjected to a security interest only pursuant to Section 47F-3-112 of the Planned Community Act;
 - (9) grant easements, leases, licenses, and concessions through or over the Common Elements;
 - (10) impose and receive any payments, fees or charges for the use, rental, or operation of the Common Elements and for services provided to Lot Owners;
 - (11) impose reasonable charges for late payment of assessments, not to exceed 12% of any assessment installment unpaid and, after notice and an opportunity to be heard, suspend privileges or services provided by the Association (except rights of access to Lots) during any period that assessments or other amounts due and owing to the Association remain unpaid for a period of 30 days or longer; provided, however, that the procedure for fines and/or suspension of privileges or services comply with Section 47F-3-107.1 of the Planned Community Act;
 - (12) after notice and an opportunity to be heard, impose reasonable fines or suspend privileges or services provided by the Association (except rights of access to Lots) for reasonable periods for violations of the Declaration, Bylaws, and rules and regulations of the Association; provided, however, that the procedure for fines and/or suspension of privileges or services comply with Section 47F-3-107.1 of the Planned Community Act;

- (13) impose reasonable charges in connection with the preparation and recordation of documents, including, without limitation, amendments to the Declaration or statements of unpaid assessments;
- (14) provide for the indemnification of and maintain liability insurance for its officers, Directors, employees, and agents;
- (15) assign its right to future income, including the right to receive Common Expense Assessments;
- (16) exercise all other powers that may be exercised in this State by legal entities of the same type as the Association; and
- (17) exercise any other powers necessary and proper for the governance and operation of the Association.
- (b) exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to this Association and not reserved to the membership by the Planned Community Act, the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the Declaration.
- (c) impose attorney fees against a Lot Owner in connection with collection of past due amounts owed to the Association, or attorney fees incurred in connection with litigation to enforce the Declaration, these Bylaws or the Association's rules and regulations, subject to Section 47F-3-116 and Section 47F-3-120 of the Planned Community Act.
 - <u>Section 2.</u> <u>Duties.</u> It shall be the duty of the Board of Directors to:
 - (a) cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and corporate affairs;
- (b) supervise all officers, agents and employees of this Association, and to see that their duties are properly performed;
- (c) issue, or to cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand by any person, a certificate setting forth whether or not any assessment has been paid. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board for the issuance of these certificates. If a certificate states an assessment has been paid, such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of such payment;
- (d) procure and maintain, to the extent available at reasonable cost, adequate liability insurance covering the Association, its Directors, officers, agents and employees and adequate hazard insurance on the Common Elements owned by the Association; and
 - (e) cause the Common Elements to be maintained.
- Section 3. Non-Liability. A Director of the Board shall not be liable to the Members if he performs the duties of a Director, including the duties as a member of any committee of the Board upon which the Director may serve, in good faith, in a manner such Director believes to be in the best interests of the Association and with such care, including reasonable inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. In performing the duties of a Director, a Director shall be entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, in each case prepared and presented by:

- (a) One or more officers or employees of the Association whom the Director believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented;
- (b) Counsel, independent accountants or other persons as to matters which the Director believes to be within such person's professional or expert competence; or
- (c) A committee of the Board on which the Director does not serve, as to matters within its designated authority, which committee the Director believes to merit confidence; so long as, in any such case, the Director acts in good faith, after reasonable inquiry, when the need therefor is indicated by the circumstances and without knowledge that would cause such reliance to be unwarranted.

ARTICLE IX

OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES

- Section 1. Enumeration of Offices. The officers of the Association shall be President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may from time to time by resolution create.
- <u>Section 2</u>. <u>Election of Officers</u>. The election of officers shall take place at the first meeting of the Board of Directors following each annual meeting of the Members.
- <u>Section 3</u>. <u>Term.</u> Each officer of the Association shall be elected annually by the Board and each shall hold office until a successor is chosen, unless he or she shall sooner resign, die or shall be removed or otherwise disqualified or unable to serve.
- <u>Section 4.</u> <u>Special Appointment.</u> The Board of Directors may elect such other officers as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may, from time to time, determine.
- Section 5. Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office with or without cause by the Board. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board or an officer. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
- Section 6. <u>Vacancies</u>. A vacancy in any office may be filled by appointment by the Board. The officer appointed to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer he or she replaces.
 - Section 7. Duties. The duties of the officers are as follows:

PRESIDENT

(a) The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors; shall see that orders and resolutions of the Board are carried out; shall sign all leases, mortgages, deeds and other written instruments; shall prepare and execute amendments to the Declaration on behalf of the Association; and shall be authorized to sign checks and promissory notes.

VICE PRESIDENT

(b) The Vice President shall act in the place and stead of the President in the event of his or her absence, death, disability or refusal to act; and shall exercise and discharge such other duties as may be required by the Board.

SECRETARY

(c) The Secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all meetings and proceedings of the Board and of the Members; shall keep the corporate seal of the Association and affix it on all papers requiring said seal; shall serve notice of meeting of the Board and of the Association, together with their addresses; shall certify and record amendments to the Declaration on behalf of the Association; and shall perform such other duties as required by the Board.

TREASURER

- (d) The Treasurer shall receive and deposit in appropriate bank accounts all monies of the Association and shall disburse such funds as directed by resolution of the Board of Directors; shall authorize payment of all checks and shall be authorized to sign checks; shall keep proper books of account; and shall prepare an annual budget and statement of income and expenditures to be presented to the Membership at its regular annual meeting, and to deliver a copy of each to the Members.
- Section 8. Execution of Contracts and Other Documents. The Board by resolution may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents to enter into any contract or execute any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Association, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. Unless so authorized by the Board, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the Association by any contract or agreement or to pledge its credit to render it liable for any purpose or for any amount.

ARTICLE X

COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors shall appoint such committees as deemed appropriate in carrying out the purposes of the Association.

ARTICLE XI

RECORDS AND BOOKS

The records, books, and papers of the Association shall at all times during reasonable business hours be subject to inspection by any Member. The Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws of the Association shall be available for inspection by any Member at the principal office of the Association.

ARTICLE XII

AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATION

Section 1. These Bylaws may be amended, at a regular or special meeting of the Members, by a vote of a majority of a quorum of Members present in person or by proxy. Provided, further, any

amendment or modification to these Bylaws must be consented to by Declarant so long as Declarant is the owner of any Lot or other portion of the Property, which consent Declarant may grant or withhold in its sole discretion. In addition, Declarant, without obtaining the approval of the Members, may make amendments or modifications to these Bylaws which either (a) are correctional in nature only and do not involve a change which materially adversely affects the rights, duties or obligations specified herein; (b) apply only to the portions of the Property then owned by Declarant; or (c) is necessary to cause these Bylaws to comply with the requirements of any governmental agency.

Section 2. In the case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation and the Bylaws, the Articles shall control; and in the case of any conflict between the Declaration and these Bylaws, the Declaration shall control.

ARTICLE XIII

MISCELLANEOUS

- Section 1. The fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the 1st day of January and end on the 31st day of December of every year, except that the first fiscal year shall begin on the date of incorporation.
- Section 2. Pursuant to Section 47F-3-103(f) of the Planned Community Act, the Board of Directors shall publish the names and addresses of all Directors and officers of the Association within thirty (30) days of their election.
- Section 3. For all purposes permitted under N.C. Gen. Stat. §55A, including, without limitation, §§1-41, 1-70, 7-04, 7-08, 7-24, and 8-21, the Association may conduct transactions via electronic means. A Member's provision or designation of an email address, or other information processing system for electronic records, to the Association, or any Board Member or Officer, shall be deemed such Owner's agreement to receive all communications from the Association via electronic transmission.
- Section 4. As permitted under N.C. Gen. Stat. §55A-11-03, only the Class B Member (as defined in the Declaration) shall be permitted to vote on a plan or merger adopted by the Board during the Class B Control Period.

Exhibit B

Being all of the property shown on that plat entitled "Final Plat for Beau Pre' at Purnell Subdivision," prepared by Cawthorne, Moss, & Panciera, P.C., dated June 13, 2008, last revised on October 15, 2013, and recorded in Book of Maps 2013 at Pages 1569 - 1571 in the Wake County Public Registry (the "Plat"), including but not limited to Lots 1 through 25, as shown on the Plat, the common open space parcels identified as "Open Space #1", "Open Space #2", and "Open Space #3" on the Plat.